
Please contact Paul Mountford, Executive Democratic Services Officer
Tel:  01270 686472
E-Mail: paul.mountford@cheshireeast.gov.uk 
 

Cabinet
Agenda

Date: Tuesday, 12th March, 2019
Time: 2.00 pm
Venue: Committee Suite 1, 2 & 3, Westfields, Middlewich Road, 

Sandbach CW11 1HZ

The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. Part 
2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons indicated on 
the agenda and in the report.

It should be noted that Part 1 items of Cheshire East Council decision-making meetings are 
audio recorded and the recordings are uploaded to the Council’s website.

PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT

1. Apologies for Absence  

2. Declarations of Interest  

To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any disclosable 
pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests in any item on the agenda.

3. Public Speaking Time/Open Session  

In accordance with paragraph 3.33 of the Cabinet Procedure Rules, a period of 10 
minutes is allocated for members of the public to address the meeting on any matter 
relevant to the work of the Cabinet. Individual members of the public may speak for 
up to 5 minutes but the Chairman or person presiding will decide how the period of 
time allocated for public speaking will be apportioned where there are a number of 
speakers. Members of the public are not required to give notice to use this facility. 
However, as a matter of courtesy, a period of 24 hours’ notice is encouraged.

Members of the public wishing to ask a question at the meeting should provide at 
least three clear working days’ notice in writing and should include the question with 
that notice. This will enable an informed answer to be given.

mailto:paul.mountford@cheshireeast.gov.uk


4. Questions to Cabinet Members  

A period of 20 minutes is allocated for questions to be put to Cabinet Members by 
members of the Council. Notice of questions need not be given in advance of the 
meeting. Questions must relate to the powers, duties or responsibilities of the 
Cabinet. Questions put to Cabinet Members must relate to their portfolio 
responsibilities.

The Leader will determine how Cabinet question time should be allocated where 
there are a number of Members wishing to ask questions. Where a question relates to 
a matter which appears on the agenda, the Leader may allow the question to be 
asked at the beginning of consideration of that item.

5. Minutes of Previous Meeting  (Pages 3 - 12)

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 5th February 2019.

6. Commission of Families Achieving Change Together (FACT)  (Pages 13 - 22)

To consider a report which provides a summary of the impact and progress of the 
current FACT initiative and proposes a way forward to embed the approach for the 
long term.

7. Rural Action Plan  (Pages 23 - 62)

To consider a report which presents a Rural Action Plan for the three year period 
2019/20 - 2021/22.

8. Exclusion of the Press and Public  

The report or a part thereof relating to the remaining item on the agenda has been 
withheld from public circulation and deposit pursuant to Section 100(B)(2) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 on the grounds that the matter may be determined with the 
press and public excluded. 
 
The Cabinet may decide that the press and public be excluded from the meeting 
during consideration of the item pursuant to Section 100(A)4 of the Local Government 
Act 1972 on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in Paragraphs 3 and 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government 
Act 1972 and the public interest would not be served in publishing the information.

PART 2 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITHOUT THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT

9. ASDV Review Update  (Pages 63 - 68)

To consider a report on the ASDV Review.



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL

Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet 
held on Tuesday, 5th February, 2019 at Committee Suite 1, 2 & 3, Westfields, 

Middlewich Road, Sandbach CW11 1HZ

PRESENT

Councillor Rachel Bailey (Chairman)
Councillor L Wardlaw (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors A Arnold, P Bates, J Clowes, J Saunders and D Stockton

Councillors in attendance
Councillors Rhoda Bailey, S Corcoran, S Edgar, R Fletcher, D Flude, G 
Hayes, S Hogben, L Jeuda, B Moran, M Simon, B Walmsley and G Williams

Officers in Attendance
Kath O’Dwyer, Acting Chief Executive
Frank Jordan, Executive Director of Place/Acting Deputy Chief Executive
Mark Palethorpe, Acting Executive Director of People
Mark Taylor, Interim Executive Director of Corporate Services
Dan Dickinson, Acting Director of Legal Services/Monitoring Officer
Alex Thompson, Acting S151 Officer
Sara Barker, Head of Strategic HR
Paul Mountford, Executive Democratic Services Officer

Apologies
Councillor J P Findlow

The Chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting, and in particular David 
Hermitt, Chairman of the Schools Forum, and Martin Casserley, a Head 
Teacher and member of the Forum. In view of their presence at the meeting, 
the Chairman, with the agreement of Cabinet and visiting members, indicated 
that the item on Schools Funding Formula would be brought forward as the 
first substantive item of business.

83 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillor D Flude declared a non-pecuniary interest in the item on 
Schools Funding Formula as Vice-Chairman of the Schools Forum.

84 PUBLIC SPEAKING TIME/OPEN SESSION 

Sue Helliwell asked if the Council could look into a one ticket issue for all 
operators of buses leaving Leighton Hospital. The Portfolio Holder for 
Environment responded that the prospects for a multi-operator ticket in 
Cheshire East had been improved considerably through Transport for the 
North’s smart ticketing Initiative which aimed to have smart card tickets 
that were acceptable on over 175 different bus companies across the 



north, including all the main operators in Cheshire East. These tickets 
were due to be rolled out to local bus services over the next two years. 

Michael Unett wished to speak in relation to the report on Schools Funding 
Formula. The Leader indicated that she would invite Mr Unett to speak 
when the item was under consideration.

85 QUESTIONS TO CABINET MEMBERS 

Councillor R Fletcher had raised a question at the December meeting 
regarding car parks in Alsager and inconsistencies in conditions of service 
in Alsager from other areas of the Borough. He indicated that he was still 
awaiting a reply. The Chairman assured Councillor Fletcher that his 
question was still logged and under consideration. At the Leader’s 
invitation, the Executive Director Place added that the matter was being 
looked at in detail with a view to providing a precise answer as soon as 
possible.

Councillor S Hogben asked about the facility to report environmental 
services and highways issues via the “Fix My Street” app, and why this no 
longer redirected to the appropriate Cheshire East Council website. He 
also asked whether there should be some communication around this to 
make it clear to those wishing to use the facility. The Portfolio Holder for 
Environment stated that the Council’s own website for reporting issues 
was a more efficient and effective way of reporting highways and other 
matters. The Leader noted the concern around the need for 
communication and agreed to take this away for further consideration.

Councillor D Flude referred to the insanitary and untidy condition of the car 
park under the old library building in Crewe. There had also been reports 
of cars being vandalised. She asked whether there were any plans to 
provide CCTV surveillance at the car park, and whether consideration had 
been given to a reduction in the parking charges at this car park in 
recognition of the issues with the car park. The Leader indicated that a 
written response would be provided.

Councillor B Moran asked a number of detailed questions relating to 
housing land supply and housing need in Cheshire East. The Portfolio 
Holder for Housing, Planning and Regeneration answered each question 
in detail.

86 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

RESOLVED

That the minutes of the meeting held on 15th January 2019 be approved as 
a correct record.



87 SCHOOLS FUNDING FORMULA FOR 2019/20 

Cabinet considered a report on the schools funding formula for 2019/20.

The report set out the process to determine the schools funding formula 
and followed detailed consideration of the matter by the Schools Forum in 
December 2018.

At the invitation of the Chairman, David Hermitt, Chairman of the Schools 
Forum, spoke in support of the recommendations in the report. He also 
urged the Council to support those organisations that were working to 
improve the national funding available for Cheshire East schools. 

Michael Unett referred to the loss of funding for a number of schools in 
Alsager as an example of what was happening to schools across the 
Borough. He urged the Council to lobby for fair funding for Cheshire East 
schools.

In response, the Portfolio Holder for Children and Families indicated that 
the Council was lobbying Members of Parliament for Cheshire East who 
were tabling the issue of funding for schools for debate in Parliament as 
well as arranging to meet Ministers. She undertook to send a detailed 
response to Mr Unett in relation to the funding of schools in Alsager. She 
also thanked the Schools Forum for supporting the proposals in the report.

The Leader added that the Council would continue to lobby and press for 
improved funding for Cheshire East Schools.

RESOLVED

That Cabinet approves

1. the use of the local formula Cheshire East which delivers the minimum 
per pupil funding level of £3,500 for primary schools and £4,800 to 
secondary schools;

2. the use of -1.5% as the minimum funding guarantee percentage. 
Meaning that no school can lose more than 1.5% per annum, excluding 
pupil number changes;

3. the transfer of 0.5% of funding from the schools block to the high needs 
block to manage expenditure pressures in that area and fund projects 
to achieve sustainability; and

4. the continuation of the current early years hourly funding rates into 
2019/20. The average rate for 3 and 4 year olds is £4.09 per hour and 
the rate for 2 year olds is £5.02 per hour.



88 THIRD QUARTER REVIEW OF PERFORMANCE 2018/19 

Cabinet considered a report on the third quarter review of performance for 
2018/19.

The report outlined how the Council was managing resources to provide 
value for money services during the 2018/19 financial year. Annex 1 to the 
report set out details of how the Council was performing in 2018/19.

Councillor M Simon, Chairman of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, reported the Committee’s comments and recommendations on 
the report as appended to these minutes.

RESOLVED

That Cabinet

1. notes the contents of the report and each appendix; and 

2. recommends that Council approve:

(a) fully funded supplementary capital estimates above £1,000,000 in 
accordance with Financial Procedure Rules as detailed in Appendix 
8 to the report; and

(b) a supplementary revenue estimate of £1,450,638 relating to Adult 
Social Care Winter Funding as detailed in Appendix 11. 

89 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2019-22 

Cabinet considered a report presenting the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy for Cheshire East Council for the years 2019/20 to 2021/22.

The report set out how the Council would approach the financial 
challenges over the medium term and forecast a balanced budget for 
2019/20.

The resolutions that Cabinet was requested to recommend to Council 
were set out at Appendix A. The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
Report (containing the Budget) for the period 2019/20 to 2021/22 was set 
out at Appendix C.

Councillor M Simon, Chairman of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, reported the Committee’s comments and recommendations on 
the report as appended to these minutes.

RESOLVED

That Cabinet



1. recommends to Council the items at Appendix A to the report; and

2. notes:

(a) the summary results of the Budget Consultation, attached at 
Appendix B, and the Budget Engagement exercise undertaken by 
the Council, as set out in Appendix C, Annex 2;

(b) the comments of the Council’s Acting Section 151 Officer, 
contained within the MTFS Report, regarding the robustness of 
estimates and level of reserves held by the Council based on these 
budget proposals (Appendix C, Comment from the Acting Section 
151 Officer); and

(c) that the Council’s Finance Procedure Rules provide a control 
framework to support decisions should any changes in spending 
requirements be identified, and for specific spending over certain 
limits (Appendix C).

90 ADOPTION OF THE COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) 

Cabinet considered a report on the adoption of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy.

The recommendations were based on the main findings of the 
independent examiner appointed to review the Council’s CIL draft 
Charging Schedule.

RESOLVED

That Cabinet

1. endorses the Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule 
attached as Appendix 1 to the report, including the identified charging 
rates and zones; and

2. recommends to Council that the Community Infrastructure Levy be 
adopted with an implementation date of 1st March 2019.

91 MACCLESFIELD LOCAL DEVELOPMENT ORDER 

Cabinet considered a report on the adoption of the Macclesfield Local 
Development Order the purpose of which was to support regeneration and 
the delivery of housing in Macclesfield.

At the Chairman’s invitation, the Director of Planning and Environment 
advised that the Local Development Order would not remove the checks 
and balances that controlled the quality of development. It would simply 
streamline the planning process by removing the need for developers to 
submit a planning application for the area covered by the Order. Any 



development proposals would be considered in relation to the 
requirements of the Order. There would also continue to be engagement 
with local communities on proposed developments. 

RESOLVED

That the Macclesfield Local Development Order attached at Appendix A to 
the report be adopted for a period of 5 years with effect from the 13th 
February 2019 and the Statement of Reasons at Appendix B be published.

92 PROPOSED EXPANSION OF ELWORTH CHURCH OF ENGLAND 
PRIMARY SCHOOL 

Cabinet considered a report on the proposed expansion of Elworth Church 
of England Primary School.

An analysis of the latest pupil forecasts had identified the need to provide 
an extra 105 school places. The Head Teacher and Governing Body of the 
school were fully supportive of the proposed increase.

RESOLVED

That Cabinet 

1. approves the proposed expansion of Elworth Church of England 
Primary School from 1.5 form entry (315 pupil places) to 2 form entry 
(420 pupil places) for implementation in September 2020, having given 
due consideration to the response to the statutory public notice; and 

2. delegates authority to the Executive Director People to enter into a 
construction contract for additional places at Elworth Church of 
England Primary School.

93 0-19 HEALTHY CHILD PROGRAMME 

Cabinet considered a report on the re-commissioning of the 0-19 Healthy 
Child Programme. The existing contract was due to expire on 30th 
September 2020. The programme aimed to ensure that every child had 
the good start they needed to lay the foundations of a healthy life.

RESOLVED

That Cabinet 

1. approves the commissioning of a 0-19 Healthy Child Programme; and

2. delegates authority to the Executive Director of People, in consultation 
with the Portfolio Holder for Children and Families and the Portfolio 
Holder for Health, to award the 0-19 Healthy Child Programme contract 
to the successful supplier or suppliers.



94 RE-COMMISSIONING OF INTEGRATED LIFESTYLE SERVICES 

Cabinet considered a report on the re-commissioning of integrated lifestyle 
services. These services aimed to improve the long term health of the 
people of Cheshire East whilst also reducing health inequality.

RESOLVED

That Cabinet

1. approves that a new procurement exercise be undertaken for the 
provision of lifestyle services in Cheshire East, funded at circa 
£1,264,038 a year; and

2. delegates authority to the Executive Director of People to award 
lifestyle-related contracts  for a period of 3 years (with options to 
extend for up to a further 2 years).

95 EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED

That the press and public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following item pursuant to Section 100(A)4 of the 
Local Government Act 1972 on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 3  and 4 of Part 
1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 and the public 
interest would not be served in publishing the information.

96 PROVISION OF CATERING SERVICES AT TATTON PARK 

Cabinet considered a report on the provision of catering services at Tatton 
Park.

RESOLVED

That Cabinet

1. approves the award of a contract to Tatton Park Enterprises Ltd for an 
initial period of 3 years, with an option to extend for a further 2 years; 
and

2. delegates authority to the Executive Director Place to take all 
necessary steps to negotiate, agree and conclude the terms of a 
contract with Tatton Park Enterprises Ltd.



The meeting commenced at 2.00 pm and concluded at 4.05 pm

Councillor Rachel Bailey (Chairman)



APPENDIX

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 4 February 2019 
Comments for Cabinet meeting on 5 February 2019 

1. Quarter 3 Performance Review

RESOLVED – 

(a) That the report be received and noted;
(b) That the thanks of the Committee be extended to Alex Thompson 

for the detailed report which was much appreciated by Members of 
the Committee;

(c) That Alex Thompson, contributing officer s and Portfolio holders be 
thanked for their attendance and contributions;

(d) That where appropriate, information be provided in the form of 
charts or graphs to assist members to comprehend and assimilate 
the information more easily;

(e) That Corporate Leadership Team be requested consider producing 
a shorter report specifically for Overview and Scrutiny Committee in 
future which gives more prominence to those matters which require 
the Council to improve performance.

2 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019-22

RESOLVED –

(a) That the report be received and noted;
(b) That the Alex Thompson, contributing officers and portfolio holders 

be thanked for their attendance and contributions;
(c) That the following comments be submitted to Cabinet:
 The committee acknowledges the unprecedented pressures on the 

Council and notes the planned actions to produce a balanced 
budget;

 The Committee notes the increased investment in  Corporate 
Services and supports this approach;

 The Cabinet considers  producing a communication stream to 
explain to the general public the difference between its statutory 
responsibilities i.e. those  for which services which have to be 
provided by law and non statutory i.e. those services which are at 
the discretion of the Council; this might provide a better steer on 
appropriate feedback into consultation process.

 That Cabinet might wish to focus further discussions on the popular 
themes highlighted by the public in the consultation i.e.:-

o The Little bus and transport in particular resulting in isolation 
in rural areas;



o Car parking charges and strategy.
(d) That Environment and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee be invited to investigate matters raised within the report 
concerning climate change.



 

OFFICIAL 

 
 
 
Cabinet 

Date of Meeting:  12 March 2019 

Report Title:   Commission of Families Achieving Change Together (FACT) 

Portfolio Holder:   Cllr Jos Saunders  

Senior Officer:   Mark Palethorpe, Acting Executive Director of People  

1. Report Summary 
 

1.1. This report provides a summary of the impact and progress of the current 
FACT initiative and proposes a way forward to embed the approach for the 
long term. FACT is an acronym for Families Achieving Change Together and 
is currently delivered across Cheshire East by an external organisation 
Catch 22. The service was previously known as Project Crewe and was 
established through a successful joint bid with Catch22 for innovation 
funding from the Department for Education (DfE). The intention of the 
innovation fund was to stimulate and support improvements in the delivery 
and structures of children’s social care and to help spread proven 
innovations more rapidly. FACT is currently commissioned by Cheshire East 
to offer intensive support to children in need and their families, using a 
solution focussed approach.  
 

1.2. FACT supports Council objectives 3 and 5, ensuring children grow in 
supportive family arrangements so they develop the life skills and get the 
education they need to strive and above all that they live well and for longer. 
Children in need often have poorer outcomes in respect of their health, 
education and life chances and the FACT approach aims to improve that 
situation.  

 

1.3. The FACT service aims to achieve positive and sustainable change for 
children and families. It has been in place since August 2015 and 
independent reviews / data analysis have proven the approach to be 
successful, with evidence of a reduction in the rate of repeat referrals and 
escalations to child protection.  
 

1.4. The FACT approach has been used to replace one of the five social work 
teams in Crewe Child in Need (CIN / Child Protection (CP) between 1 



 

OFFICIAL 
2 

August 2018 and 31st March 2019 as part of a fully integrated and innovative 
approach to working with children in need. The approach has worked with 
continuing improved outcomes for our families in need and the smoothing of 
social worker turnover within the teams 

 

1.5. It is proposed to commission three FACT teams, with each team consisting 
of a qualified social work consultant, four family service practitioners 
supported by a cohort of skilled and trained volunteers. The estimated cost 
of the commission is £600,000 pa which will be funded through Children’s 
Social Care base budget.  In order to embed the approach over the long 
term it is proposed to commission for five years (1 April 2020 to 31 March 
2025) which takes the contract value over £1m and therefore requires 
Cabinet approval.  

 

1.6. Time has been taken to assess whether the FACT model can be delivered 
efficiently and effectively through internal delivery whilst maintaining the 
fidelity of the innovation model. One of the main factors in arriving at the 
decision to commission rather than replicating the approach through internal 
team structures has been the staff turnover that occurs within our social work 
teams and the consistency of practice and caseload variation that this can 
create. As the decision to commission or develop the model internally has 
been carefully considered over recent months a long period of a settled state 
across our social work teams has been interrupted by periods of staff 
turnover. This has resulted in a delay in the decision to commission. 

 

1.7. In order to assess the appetite and ability of the market to deliver the FACT 
model as a long term approach a period of market engagement and testing 
is needed prior to a competitive procurement process. This will require a 
further one year contract award (1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020) to the 
existing commissioned provider in order to ensure there is no break in the 
delivery of FACT.       
 

2. Recommendations 
 
That Cabinet: 
 
2.1.  Directly award a contract to Catch 22 to deliver the Families Achieving 

change Together (FACT) service for the period 1 April 2019 to 31st March 
2020. 

2.2 Approve the re-commissioning of the FACT service via an EU compliant 
competitive procurement exercise. 

2.3 Delegate authority to the Acting Executive Director People, in consultation 
with the Children and Families Portfolio Holder, to award the FACT contract 
for a period of five years (1 April 2020 to 31 March 2025). 
 
 
 



 

OFFICIAL 

3. Reasons for Recommendations 
 

3.1. FACT is an innovative project supporting children in need. Ongoing research 
findings are supportive of the positive impact the service is having in 
reducing repeat referrals and escalations to child protection.  
 

3.2. There has been a positive impact on social work caseload which mitigates 
the negative impact on families of staff turnover and temporary 
arrangements. Embedding the approach for the long term via a five year 
contract allows the model to thrive. 

 

3.3. The Council has a statutory duty to protect children and young people from 
significant harm and to provide support so they can do well. If FACT or a 
similar service was not commissioned then the cohort of children identified as 
in need would transfer as open cases to the Child in Need/Child Protection 
Service.   

 

3.4. The direct award of a contract to Catch 22 for a period of one year (1 April 
2019 to 31 March 2020) will allow effective service continuation across the 
child in need social work teams and provides time for market testing and 
engagement, review of the specification for services and consider the 
inclusion of an invest to save approach and an effective procurement 
process to be undertaken.  
                   

4. Other Options Considered 
 
4.1. The option to apply the FACT model internally has been considered however 

the continued turbulence in staff recruitment and retention means that the 
ability to deliver consistent and lasting support to our vulnerable children and 
families is best served by a commissioned model. It will also ensure that the 
fidelity of the model is maintained. 
 

4.2. There is an option to do nothing and allow the current contract with Catch22 
to naturally end. This would result in current caseloads transferring to core 
children’s social work teams and urgent recruitment to vacant posts at a time 
when effective recruitment can be difficult to achieve.  
 

5. Background 
 

5.1. The FACT service strives to achieve positive sustainable outcomes for 
families with children aged 0 to 18 years old who are identified as children in 
need. Each team is led by a suitably qualified and experienced Social Work 
Consultant, who is responsible for supervising four Family Service 
Practitioners and ensuring that statutory requirements, such as visits and 
completion of child in need plans are met. Families are provided with a 
holistic, whole family approach. Family Practitioners have protected 
caseloads and are able to offer an intensive offer to families. The team is 
supported by a cohort of skilled and trained volunteers who are suitably 



 

OFFICIAL 
4 

matched to families and children. They can complement a current child in 
need plan(s) or provide support to families once their plans have closed.  

 

5.2. Family Practitioners aim to complete a Family Star Plus assessment (see 
below) with all parents at various points during intervention; at the start; as 
an interim measure (every 3 months); then at closure. This cohort star 
includes the impact of all parents who have completed 2 or more stars. The 
Green line represents the average scaling of parents at the start of the 
intervention and the blue line represents the average scaling of parents at 
the interim or end of any intervention. Consistently the service has seen 
more change in areas of “your wellbeing” and “boundaries and behaviour”. 

 

 
 

5.3. Fact capture feedback from children, families and professionals on a regular 
basis and use this to inform service delivery and change where needed. 
Some examples of the feedback the service has received are below: 
 
Parents: 

 

"Excellent.  Taught me invaluable tools.  Provided a solid support system and 
was always available" 

 
"Brilliant service! Down to earth, understanding, really helpful and 
approachable.  Project Crewe are there to help, not judge.  Social workers 
aren't scary!! Very supportive and helpful!" 

 



 

OFFICIAL 

Children: 
 

“I feel like they've made us all as a family see the changes we needed to 
make. We all communicate a lot better with each other I just feel like I’m in a 
totally different place now and haven’t got the weight of the world on my 
shoulders”  
"I don’t think I’ve ever heard so many positive things about myself" 
“Mummy doesn’t shout as much.  Things at home are good.” 
 

5.4. During the period that FACT has been in place: 
 

 There was a reduction in referrals to children’s social care of 
approximately 8%. 

 Repeat referrals have reduced from 25% to 22% and we are now in 
line with the national average. 

 FACT data shows a current re-referral rate of 12.7%. 

 The average open caseload in Crewe CIN/CP has reduced from over 
1000 to around 600 

 The cared for children population has risen during this period, similar 
to other local authority areas, however when it is necessary to make 
an application to court to safeguard a child, there is significant 
evidence to demonstrate that the family have been offered support to 
make the changes required to keep their child safe from the risk of 
significant harm. There is also early evidence that the rate of 
admissions to care is beginning to reduce. 

  
5.5. FACT (Project Crewe) is one of only 9 of the 50+ Round 1 Innovation 

Programme projects invited to take part in a longitudinal study. This follow up 
evaluation will track the outcomes for the families involved in the original 
Randomised Control Trial in order to assess sustained impact and will be a 
great opportunity to showcase how the service model has impacted 
positively on the areas children and families.  
 

5.6. Catch 22 and Cheshire East have also contributed to research conducted by 
Research in Practice, a national training and development resource that 
supports evidence informed practice with children and families. This 
research looks at best practice in effective Commissioner-Provider 
relationships when commissioning innovative services.  

 

5.7. The FACT approach has been used to replace one of the five social work 
teams in Crewe CIN/CP between 1 August 2018 and 31st March 2019 as 
part of a fully integrated and innovative approach to working with children in 
need. Given the success of the FACT approach it is proposed to expand the 
number of pods from 2 to 3 rather than recruit to vacancies within the 
traditional social work teams in Crewe.  

 

 



 

OFFICIAL 
6 

5.8. It is proposed to commission three FACT teams, with each team consisting of 
a qualified social work consultant, four family service practitioners supported 
by a cohort of skilled and trained volunteers. The estimated cost of the 
commission is £600,000 pa which will be funded through Children’s Social 
Care base budget for staffing. In order to embed the approach over the long 
term it is proposed to commission for five years (1 April 2020 to 31 March 
2025) which takes the contract value over £1m and therefore requires 
Cabinet approval.  
 

5.9. Time has been taken to assess whether the FACT model can be delivered 
efficiently and effectively through internal delivery whilst maintaining the 
fidelity of the innovation model. One of the main factors in arriving at the 
decision to commission rather than replicating the approach through internal 
team structures has been the staff turnover that occurs within our social work 
teams and the consistency of practice and caseload variation that this can 
create. As the decision to commission or develop the model internally has 
been carefully considered over recent months a long period of a settled state 
across our social work teams has been interrupted by periods of staff 
turnover. This has resulted in a delay in the decision to commission. 
 

5.10. In order to assess the appetite and ability of the market to deliver the FACT 
model as a long term approach a period of market engagement and testing 
is needed prior to a competitive procurement process. This will require a 
further one year contract award (1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020) to the 
existing commissioned provider in order to ensure there is no break in the 
delivery of FACT. 

 

6. Implications  
 

6.1. Legal Implications 
 

6.1.1. The Council has a statutory duty to work with children in need to 
promote and safeguard their welfare. Cheshire East has devolved its 
responsibility for children in need that are open to the service provider. 

 

6.1.2. The total value of this 5 year contract is such that these services must be 
competitively procured in accordance with the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 and in compliance with the Council’s Finance and 
Contract Procedure Rules.  This will require a fully OJEU compliant 
procurement exercise.  The Service is engaging with Legal Services and 
the Council’s Corporate Procurement Team in this process.  The impact 
of TUPE on existing provision will need to be considered during the 
course of the procurement process. 

 

6.1.3. Whilst the procurement process is undertaken it is proposed that a 
contract be directly awarded to the incumbent provider.  A contract for a 
period of one year is below the EU threshold (for competition) and, whilst 
it could be challenged on the basis that the value of the direct award 
should be combined with the previous contracts, the risk is low if the 



 

OFFICIAL 

Council  can demonstrate it is in the process of competitively procuring 
the service going forwards.  

 
6.2. Finance Implications 
 
6.2.1. The proposed FACT service of three pods (estimate annual value of 

£600,000) will be funded from the Children’s Social Care staffing base 
budget. Whilst there are no savings expected at the current time from 
the provision of this service, it is expected that longer term savings could 
result from the reduction in escalations of children in need, a reduction in 
repeat referrals and a different approach to young mums who are 
repeatedly having babies taken into the care of the Local Authority.  
 

6.2.2. The Children’s Social Care Service has a budget of £35m for 2018/19.  
The budget is subject to a number of pressures from care placements 
and associated costs plus staffing.  The staffing budget will be re-cast for 
2019/20 to include the additional FACT service and monitored effectively 
during the year. The mainstreaming of FACT and the invest to save 
approach surrounding the repeat requirement to take babies into the care 
of the Local Authority is one of the strategies to be applied in order to 
balance the budget over a two year period. 

 

6.3. Policy Implications 
 
6.3.1 This commission will put children in need at the centre of Council policy 

and decision making. The invitation to tender will be undertaken with 
clear reference to the Children and Young People’s Plan and Signs of 
Safety approached being adopted across children’s social care.  

 
6.4. Equality Implications 
 
6.4.1. The proposals contained in this report look to enhance the social care 

offer to vulnerable groups of children and families, in particular young 
mums. An equality impact assessment will be completed early in the 
commissioning process.  

  
6.5. Human Resources Implications 
 
6.5.1. The Council has a workforce strategy which is designed to recruit and 

retain qualified Social Workers and Managers. It is important that this is 
effective so that the Council retains the capacity to respond to children 
and young people at risk of significant harm.  This service provides an 
innovative alternative to delivering statutory children’s social work 
services with less Social Workers being needed to provide high quality 
child in need planning. This means that Social Workers can focus on 
more complex work such as children subject to child protection planning 
and court work. 
 



 

OFFICIAL 
8 

6.5.2. When the FACT service is advertised for tender any TUPE implications 
will be taken into account.   

 
6.6. Risk Management Implications 

 
6.6.1. There are risks associated with the devolving of authority to Catch22 to 

deliver some statutory services to children as Cheshire East was one of 
the first Councils to do this. There are clear performance measures in 
place, alongside a quality assurance framework. There is a joint working 
protocol that is regularly updated and has evolved over time.  In order to 
mitigate the risk, Children’s Social Care have consulted with Ofsted and 
invited the Chief Social Worker to visit the service. 
 

6.6.2. The appetite of the market to commit to an innovative model of delivering 
statutory children’s social care over the long term is a potential risk. 
Market engagement will be undertaken during March / April 2019 in order 
to assess whether an active market exists that has the required 
experience to deliver devolved statutory children’s social care 
responsibilities on a long term basis and whether it is possible to deliver 
invest to save surrounding repeat removal of babies into care within the 
new delivery model. 
 

6.7. Rural Communities Implications 
 
6.7.1. Children and families in need of social care support can come across 

Cheshire East, including our rural communities. 
 

6.8. Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children  
 
6.8.1. This report sets out the progress being made to reduce the impact of 

harm on children and young people and the positive impact of the FACT 
service on wellbeing and the understanding of families surrounding 
boundaries and behaviour.  

 
6.9. Public Health Implications 
 
6.9.1. There are wider benefits to the general public health of children and their 

families from effective family support and reduced intervention of social 
work teams. 
 

 
7. Ward Members Affected 

 
7.1 FACT currently works across the Cheshire East footprint.  There has 

been an increased focus on provision of service within the Crewe area, 
although for specific families, identified as benefitting from the service, 
there remains the potential to work with FACT wherever they reside.  
 

 



 

OFFICIAL 

8. Consultation & Engagement 
 

8.1 The implementation of FACT has been scrutinised by the Local 
Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB). Due to the service being 
innovative, there has been significant consultation and engagement with 
partner agencies and the wider community through attendance at 
meetings and open days.  

 
8.2 The development of the service takes place in consultation with children 

and families. FACT have recruited their first volunteer who was 
previously a parent with a child open to the service.  

 
9 Access to Information 

 
9.1 There is no information provided in addition to this report.  

 
10 Contact Information 

Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following officer: 

Name:            Dave Leadbetter  

Job Title: Head of Children’s Commissioning 

Email:  dave.leadbetter@cheshireeast.gov.uk  

 

mailto:dave.leadbetter@cheshireeast.gov.uk




 

OFFICIAL 

 
 
Cabinet 

Date of Meeting:  12 March 2019 

Report Title:  Rural Action Plan 

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Janet Clowes, Portfolio Holder for Adult Social Care and 

Integration 

Senior Officer:  Frank Jordan, Executive Director Place 

1. Report Summary 

1.1. The Council has identified ‘rural matters’ as a strategic priority and has 

undertaken to build a strong and resilient rural economy with strong, 

supportive rural places and communities. The purpose of this report is to 

present a Rural Action Plan for the three year period 2019/20 - 2021/22 

(attached as an Appendix to the report).  This builds upon previous work 

following the publication in 2015 of Cheshire East’s strategic document 

‘Where Rural Communities Matter’, providing an update on achievements to 

date and identifying actions proposed for the next three years.  

 

2. Recommendations 

2.1. That Cabinet:  

2.1.1 Approve the Rural Action Plan. 

2.1.2 Delegate authority to the Executive Director - Place, in consultation with 

the Portfolio Holder for Adult Social Care and Integration, to update the 

action plan as necessary.  

3. Reasons for Recommendations 

3.1. The Rural Action Plan is a significant contributor to achieving the aims and 

objectives of the Corporate Plan in a predominantly rural area.  

3.2. As the Rural Action Plan relates to the whole borough and deals with matters 

across a number of portfolios, this is a key Cabinet decision.  By the nature of 



 

OFFICIAL 

rural affairs, the action plan needs to be able to reflect changes in national 

policies and local priorities. 

4. Other Options Considered 

4.1. There are no other options to consider. 

 

5. Background 

5.1. Just under 180,000 people, live in rural communities in Cheshire East, 

including the rural towns. Therefore, there is a need to ensure that delivery of 

our corporate outcomes meet the needs of rural communities and continue to 

support Cheshire East’s quality of place. Cheshire East is a member of the 

Rural Services Network defined under its SPARSE rural classification as a 

Council considered predominantly rural, while the Defra Rural Classification 

for the Borough is ‘urban with significant rural’. 

5.2. ‘Where Rural Communities Matter’ was a local action plan produced by 

Cheshire East Council in 2015 that provided a statement on the value of the 

rural area and outlined a number of actions.  Building on this approach, 

Cheshire East Council’s rural action plan is set in the context of how existing 

strategies deliver on the rural agenda and at the same time, helping to 

identify those gaps that need to be addressed in the future. There is also a 

need to look at the role of the rural agenda in the Council’s Economic and 

Environment Strategies and at future funding arrangements, including the 

Shared Prosperity Fund or environment and agricultural funding. The overall 

aim of the plan is to help inform strategic choices and identify priorities 

regarding the rural area, based on the Council’s strategies and plans along 

with their related an evidence base.   

5.3. A number of Council strategies and plans that relate to the rural principles or 

priorities have been identified and their contribution audited against four 

themes of connectivity, life chances and choices, environment and economy. 

This plan does not replace those strategies and plans, but rather provides a 

rural focus to help decision makers ensure that the rural dimensions are 

understood and to help to co-ordinate actions.   

 

5.4. It is hoped that this plan provides a framework that will allow further 

consideration of policy and strategic direction, positioning the Council to be 

able to respond to changes at national level. This is part of an ongoing 

process that needs to be able to adapt to reflect changes. 

 

 

 

 



 

OFFICIAL 

6. Implications of the Recommendations 

6.1. Legal Implications 

6.1.1   There are no direct legal implications arising from the report but CEC 

Legal Services has been consulted and will support in relation to any 

specific legal issues that arise in the future. 

6.2. Finance Implications 

6.2.1. Actions covered by the rural action plan will be delivered within existing 

service budgets, normally related to the lead service identified in the 

plan. While the future of funding arrangements for agriculture and rural 

development is currently unclear, it is hoped that the plan may still 

provide the Council with an approach to what shapes the character and 

nature of the rural area, in preparation for any future changes to policy 

and funding.  

6.3. Policy Implications 

6.3.1. Cheshire East is defined by the Rural Services Network ‘SPARSE 

classification’ as a council considered ‘predominantly rural’, while the 

Defra Rural Classification for the Borough is ‘urban with significant rural’. 

 

6.3.2. Cheshire East Council’s rural action plan is set in the context of how 

existing strategies deliver on the rural agenda and at the same time, 

helping to identify those gaps that need to be addressed in the future. A 

number of Council strategies and plans that relate to the rural principles 

or priorities have been identified and their contribution audited against 

four themes of connectivity, life chances and choices, environment and 

economy. The economy in rural areas and its contribution to ‘quality of 

place’ play an important role in Cheshire East, contributing to economic 

well-being.   

 

6.3.3. It is hoped that this framework will allow consideration of policy and 

strategic direction. The Rural action Plan will also provide a framework for 

consideration of future policy and strategic direction in the context of 

changes in national policy and related funding. 

6.4. Equality Implications 

6.4.1. Given that the proposal does not represent any change of policy an 

EIA has not been conducted. There are no direct implications for 

equalities. 

 



 

OFFICIAL 

6.5. Human Resources Implications 

6.5.1. There are no direct implications for human resources. 

6.6. Risk Management Implications 

6.6.1. There are no direct implications for risk management. 

6.7. Rural Communities Implications 

6.7.1. Half of the Cheshire East population live in rural communities including 

the rural towns. The action plan will help to ensure that delivery of our 

corporate outcomes meet the needs of rural communities and the 

economy in rural areas.  

6.8. Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children  

6.8.1. The action plan includes proposals that relate to strong, supportive 

rural places and communities, including life chances and choices that 

may relate to children and young people. 

6.9. Public Health Implications 

6.9.1. The action plan includes proposals that relate to strong, supportive 

rural places and communities, including life chances and choices that 

may relate to public health. 

 

7. Ward Members Affected 

7.1. All wards. 

8. Access to Information 

8.1. Supporting information related to previous rural actions is reviewed in an 

appendix to the Rural Action Plan.  

9. Contact Information 

9.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 

officer: 

Name: Brendan Flanagan 
Job Title: Head of Rural and Cultural Economy 
Email: Brendan.flanagan@cheshireeast.gov.uk  

mailto:Brendan.flanagan@cheshireeast.gov.uk


1 
 

Appendix 1 

Cheshire East Rural Action Plan  

  



2 
 

Cheshire East Rural Action Plan 

Introduction 

As part of delivering its Corporate Plan outcomes, the Council has undertaken to 

build a strong and resilient rural economy with strong, supportive rural places and 

communities. The Rural Action Plan builds upon previous work by the Council to 

support its Rural area, identifying actions for the three year period 2019/20 -2021/22. 

It is intended that this plan will provide a framework that supports consideration of 

policy and strategic direction for the rural area, positioning the Council to be able to 

respond to changes at national and local level. 

Background and context 

Cheshire East is defined by the Rural Services Network SPARSE classification as a 

council considered ‘predominantly rural’, while the Defra Rural Classification for the 

Borough is ‘urban with significant rural’. Whatever the definition, the rural aspect of 

Cheshire East is significant in terms of population, economic impact and its 

contribution to the borough’s Quality of Place. It helps to define the character of the 

place, but brings with it both the constraints and opportunities that are peculiar to 

rural areas.  

The quality of its natural environment and excellent location, combined with factors 

such as high educational attainment and employment opportunities, ensure that 

Cheshire East is a place offering a high quality of life to its residents and is an 

attractive place to do business; a place where people want to live, work and visit. 

Cheshire East was traditionally, and remains in many places, a rural area, with 

agriculture (particularly dairy) and land-based industries, a network of generally 

prosperous villages and mid-sized market towns serving as important service and 

functional centres. Alongside their roles as retail, commercial, educational and 

leisure focal points, these places historically developed specialisms, including 

extractive industries, chemicals and silk.  

During the decade to 2010 rural areas achieved higher rates of growth in numbers of 

businesses and jobs than any other category in England. Stewardship of the rural 

environment is central to achieving this balance between economic growth and 

environmental and societal wellbeing. Rural economies have demonstrated their 

potential to provide more growth and employment if given appropriate stimuli and 

support from national and local business leaders or policy makers. 

In general, although rural areas can have lower unemployment than urban areas, 

rural wages can often be lower, especially those in agriculture and tourism where 

their seasonal nature can affect earnings. When combined in areas – predominantly 

rural – with higher house and fuel prices, the result can in some cases lead to 

instability of income levels or even pockets of deprivation. One of the priorities can 

therefore be to seek to increase employment opportunities, reduce seasonality and 

champion the creation of better-paid wages in certain sectors.  



3 
 

English rural areas contributed £211 billion to the UK economy in 2010. It is not 

surprising that key sectors are focussed on the land and landscape: agriculture, 

tourism, forestry and renewable energy. However, only 16% of rural businesses are 

involved in agriculture, forestry or fishing. Creative and digital industries also account 

for a significant proportion of businesses. Other areas of potential growth include 

renewable energy generation; advanced manufacturing and engineering; logistics; 

food and drink manufacturing, agri-tech and bio-renewables; financial & professional 

services and healthcare technology. 

The economy in rural areas plays an important role in Cheshire East. The rural area 

boasts a diverse industry base. As well as traditional large scale dairy and land-

based enterprises, there are significant tourism businesses, creative & digital 

industries, distribution, and technology businesses as just some examples. 

Traditional land based businesses, the wider countryside, its rural tourism assets 

and events form an important part of the ‘Cheshire’ brand.  

There is a significant value in the area’s natural capital and character, and the 

contribution of farming and land management should not be underestimated or 

forgotten. It is after all what underpins our rural character, environment and 

communities, contributing to ‘quality of place’, which is accepted as an economic 

attribute, supporting locational decisions and investment in the area. It has been 

argued that those places with strong ‘quality of place’ attributes can stand out from 

their competitors and therefore stand a better chance of landing new investment and 

skilled workers. An ‘emotional connection’ to a place can become as important as 

more rational, number-driven determinants, particularly for knowledge workers. 

Cheshire East’s rural character offers these attributes. 

The agri-food sector in Cheshire East is well developed and diverse. This sector 

comprises of a range of companies from large scale food manufacturers and animal 

feed businesses, to dairy operators, salad producers and small scale operations 

(including traditional cheese producers, farm shops, breweries and distilleries). 

Cheshire East’s food and drink sector is recognised by Cheshire and Warrington 

Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) being identified through the Northern 

Independent Economic Review as having growth potential for Cheshire and 

Warrington. Like the visitor economy, agri-food is an important sector in Cheshire 

East’s economy based in rural areas. Although representing a relatively small portion 

of the district’s economic output (in terms of GVA), they both employ a high number 

of people and are important to the character of the area 

The Council has a direct involvement in agricultural land through the Cheshire Farms 

Service, which was created to manage the agricultural estates of both Cheshire 

West and Chester Council and Cheshire East Council on their formation as unitary 

authorities in 2009. Cheshire East Council retains an Estate of approximately 5,000 

acres with a range of entry level farm types and sizes, providing opportunities to 

suitably qualified persons to enter agriculture. 



4 
 

Land management industries are important to Cheshire but the economy in rural 

areas reaches far beyond this in terms of jobs, enterprises and output. The rural 

areas are now home to a wide range of non-land based businesses that appreciate 

the rural setting, including professional services and digital/creative. The ‘Science 

Corridor’ in Cheshire East has many businesses based in rural locations with 

particular strengths in advanced scientific analysis and research, pharmaceuticals 

R&D, energy and radio-astrophysics and astronomy. Alongside strategic 

employment sites based in a rural setting such as Alderley Park, Radbroke Hall, 

Waters(Wilmslow) and Jodrell Bank, the rural area supports a diverse economy of 

SMEs and micro-businesses. Beyond the strategic sites, agri-food and the visitor 

economy remain the most visibly significant rural-based sectors, but with the 

development of high-speed broadband coverage, professional, knowledge based, 

creative and digital businesses are also important. Self-employment in the rural area 

(at 14.2%) is higher than in urban areas and higher than the national average. 

Furthermore, Cheshire East’s Visitor Economy (currently worth circa £921million, 

supporting over 11,000 fte jobs) is forecast to grow with potential to reach £1bn by 

2020. The rural offer (and its related heritage) is a very important component of our 

visitor economy and there are opportunities to improve destination management, 

increase the availability of quality accommodation, develop business tourism and 

exploit specialist sector based experiences (including filming and events) to allow the 

sector’s contribution to increase and maintain a competitive position. 

However, the rural economy does not sit in isolation from other factors: Planning, 

affordable housing, public transport, access to health facilities, education, older 

people's services, fuel poverty, viable local services, character/quality of environment 

and community engagement are all part of an associated matrix. Key areas for 

consideration in respect to the rural economy are: 

• Planning: Positive planning allows rural communities to adapt and thrive. 

This must offer policies that reflect local circumstances and provide a 

workable planning system, which both engages and gains the trust of rural 

communities. The use of neighbourhood plans and supplementary 

planning guidance may be appropriate tools in some circumstances. 

• Quality/character of environment: quality of place can be a significant 

factor in locational decisions to live, work or invest, providing an ‘emotional 

connection’ and it is essential to visitor economy success.  Prosperous 

places are supported by their inherent environmental, cultural or heritage 

characteristics. 

•  Affordable Housing: Rural communities need to be places where people 

from a range of age groups and backgrounds can live. Housing 

affordability is therefore a key concern with a need for affordable homes to 

meet the needs of rural communities, the economy in rural areas and 

address the issue of key workers. This needs to be addressed within the 

context of compliance with adopted planning policies. 



5 
 

• Public transport: Suitable public transport links are important to helping 

small businesses access markets or making it practical for employees to 

seek work in rural communities. Transport can also bring customers and 

tourists to local rural businesses such as shops, hotels and B&Bs. National 

research shows that 42% of households in rural areas had a regular bus 

service close-by compared to 96% of urban households.  

• Tackling fuel poverty: Rural areas have a high proportion of households in 

fuel poverty, with many off the mains gas network or living in solid wall 

homes.  

• Viable village services: Local services such as village shops, pubs and 

post offices are at the heart of functioning communities, as well as offering 

a lifeline to many vulnerable residents. Investment in local services not 

only benefits communities but also employee recruitment and new 

business development. 

• Schools: Small and rural schools are important in functioning rural 

communities. 

• Broadband and mobile connectivity: Rural businesses and communities 

need to share in the opportunities available with fast broadband services.  

• Road Network: There is a strong interdependence between rural and 

urban economies. Urban centres are often major markets for rural based 

businesses and many rural residents work in local urban areas. Therefore, 

in order to realise the true potential of the rural economy, connectivity 

needs to be reduced as a barrier to trade and economic growth between 

urban and rural areas. The added benefit of good transport services is that 

it will attract visitors and their spending power to rural economies. 

Developing a Rural Action Plan 

Just fewer than 180,000 people, half of the Cheshire East population, live in rural 

communities including the rural towns. Therefore, there is a need to ensure that 

delivery of our corporate outcomes meets the needs of rural communities. The rural 

area is also part of Cheshire East’s ‘quality of place’, contributing to economic well-

being by offering characteristics that are part of the area’s distinctiveness. Studies 

have shown how quality of place influences locational decisions with innovators and 

entrepreneurs attracted to creative, cultural and beautiful places. 

A draft Rural Strategy Action Plan was produced in 2014 following review and 

consultation, but was not formally approved. This was superseded by the ‘Where 

Rural Communities Matter’ document in early 2015 which outlined a number of key 

actions.   After reviewing the success of this approach there is a need for a new rural 

action plan to ensure there is one clear delivery plan with agreed timelines and 

accountability.  This will ensure that Rural Strategy will link to other key strategies 

and outcomes rather than being separate from them. 

Building on this approach, Cheshire East Council’s rural action plan is set in the 

context of how existing strategies deliver on the rural agenda and at the same time, 



6 
 

helping to identify those gaps that need to be addressed in the future. There is also a 

need to consider the role of the rural agenda in informing the Council’s Economic 

Strategy and to look at future funding arrangements in the round, including the 

Shared Prosperity Fund and any changes to arrangements for agriculture and the 

environment. Both national and local Environment Strategies are also of significance 

in influencing the rural agenda. While future national funding arrangements are 

currently unclear, it is possible that they may reflect a broader understanding of 

those aspects that shape the character and nature of the rural area and will be of 

significance in how the rural action plan is delivered.   

In the meantime, a number of Council strategies and plans that relate to the rural 

principles or priorities have been identified and their contribution audited against four 

themes of connectivity, life chances and choices, environment and economy. It is 

hoped that this framework will guide consideration of policy and strategic direction. 

The diagram below illustrates how a framework provides a cross-cutting approach to 

considering and integrating actions from a range of relevant strategies and plans, 

providing the basis for developing a Rural action plan. It is not intended to replace or 

take precedence over these strategies, but rather to allow consideration of how 

these may impact on the rural area or rural affairs. 

 

The overall aim of the plan is to help inform strategic choices as part of meeting the 
Council’s strategic outcomes and identify priorities regarding the rural area. This is 
based on the Council’s existing strategies and plans along with their related an 
evidence base.  It does not replace those strategies and plans, but rather provides a 
rural focus on them to help decision makers ensure that the rural community, 
economy and environment are understood and to help to co-ordinate actions.  This is 
part of an ongoing process that needs to be able to adapt to reflect changes.  



7 
 

‘Where Rural communities matter’ 

Appendix 1 provides an update of actions and progress since ‘Where rural 

communities matter’ was published in 2015.  

Some of the key points so far include: 

 Successful bids for LEADER funding And Rural Growth Funding, which to 

date has led  to a £868,481.27 investment in rural projects with a total value of  

£2,173,676.33 overall in  just under a 3 year period 

 Continued growth in the Visitor economy and a strategic focus on a distinctive 

rural tourism offer. 

 Successful development of a Food Enterprise Zone at Reaseheath College 

through a Local development Order. 

 31.7% of premises can receive ultrafast broadband – above 100Mbps, and 

94.3% of premises receive superfast broadband – above 30Mbps  

 Support for resident-led Neighbourhood Plans, with 18 Plans having now 

been ‘made’ including 11 in primarily rural parishes. 

 Local Plan strategy adopted 

 Landscape partnership project developed with National Trust in the northern 

part of the Borough. 

 Regular Town and Parish Council Conferences and engagement with ChALC. 

 Rights of Way Improvement Plan adopted. 

 Local Transport Plan & Cycling Strategy in place. 

 Connected Communities e-newsletter, circulated to over 4000 email 

addresses every 2 months, shares stories and promotes activities and events. 

 ‘Healthy walks’ projects for areas around Crewe, Congleton and Knutsford.   

 The Participatory Budgeting initiative in 2016 – enabled community groups to 

bid for funding for innovative local projects. Over 70 local groups and 

organisations across the Cheshire East area obtained an overall total of 

£370,000 for projects  that addressed health inequalities 

 

  



8 
 

STRATEGIC ACTIONS 2018/19 – 2021/22 
 
This action plan provides a cross-cutting approach, reflecting the plans and 
strategies of the Council and the work of partners in delivery. It is aimed at anyone 
interested in the wellbeing of rural Cheshire East, helping to inform decision makers 
and policy makers from public, private or voluntary sectors, community groups, wider 
stakeholders and individuals. The plan is intended to be a flexible resource that 
reflects the Council’s aspirations and enables people and groups to be engaged. 
 
Since ‘Where Rural communities matter’ was published, the Council has continued 
to engage in further research, scoping and consultation. A working group 
representing services across the Council has drawn on this experience and identified 
a number of key priorities and suggested actions across a number of strategic 
priority issues: 
 
Rural Connectivity 

Rural Economy  

Rural Communities: life chances and choices  

Rural Environment 

No.  Priority Issues 
(not 
necessarily in 
priority order) 

Rural 
Connectivity 

 Rural 
Economy 

Rural 
Community 

Rural 
Environment 

1. Digital 
Connectivity: 
Broadband and 
Mobile 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 

2. Access for 
residents, 
businesses and 
visitors 

       

3. Rural Housing        

4. Strong, 
supportive rural 
places and 
communities  

      

5. Neighbourhood 
planning 

        

6.  Planning for a 
green and 
sustainable 
place  

       

7. Visitor & 
Cultural 
Economy 

       

8. Rural Based 
Businesses 

       



9 
 

 

Rural Action plan 2018/19 – 2021/22 

1. Digital Connectivity: Broadband and Mobile 
 

 Indicative performance indicators:  

 Percentage of premises having access to superfast broadband 
 

 Key actions Primary 
responsibilities 

Timescale  

1.1 Deliver the Digital 2020: Digital support 
programme to support businesses to 
maximise the benefits of enhanced digital 
infrastructure 

CEC Growth & 
Enterprise  

Up to 
spring 
2020 

1.2 Promote access to rural connectivity 
schemes. Manage the award of vouchers 

CEC Growth & 
Enterprise  

2018 - 21 

1.3 Contribute to delivery of a sub-regional digital 
strategy ( including creative & digital sector 
business) 

CEC Growth & 
Enterprise,  Rural 
& Cultural 
Economy/ LEP 

2019 -21 

 

 

2. Access for residents, business and visitors 
 

 Indicative performance indicators:  

 Percentage of households within 400m of a bus stop served by a 
scheduled bus service 

 Maintain Public Rights of Way so that at least 80% of the network is 
classed as ‘easy to use’  

 Secure and deliver new and improved public access routes where 
funding opportunities arise, including through development proposals, 
where possible, to improve access for residents, business and visitors 

 

 Key actions Primary 
responsibilities 

Timescale 

2.1 Adoption of the new Local Transport Plan 
(LTP) which considers all areas of the 
borough and includes a local area profile  

CEC Strategic 
Infrastructure 
and Highways  

2019 

2.2 Development of Town Plans for each key 
service centre and principal towns, which will 
also encompass the surrounding rural areas  

CEC Strategic 
Infrastructure 
and Highways 

2019-23 

2.3 Development of Local Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plans (LCWIP) for Wilmslow, 
Congleton and Macclesfield that look at the 
towns and surrounding areas.  

CEC Strategic 
Infrastructure 
and Highways  

2019 

2.4 Review of Little Bus service to ensure the 
service works efficiently for the borough as a 
whole including rural areas  

CEC Strategic 
Infrastructure 
and Highways  

2019  



10 
 

2.5 Deliver the Rights of Way Improvement Plan: 
2011-2026 through 4 yearly implementation 
plans.  The current plan expires in 2019. 
Delivery of a plan after 2019 will be in line 
with the Local Transport Plan and related 
strategies (such as Green Infrastructure, 
Cycling Strategy and Local Plan). 

Public Rights of 
Way/CEC 
Strategic 
Infrastructure 
and Highways  

2019-26 

 

 

3. Rural Housing 

 Indicative performance indicators:  

 Increase the provision of affordable homes on rural exceptions sites by 
10% by 2021 

 

 Key actions Primary 
responsibilities 

Timescale 

3.1 Exploring opportunities to provide affordable 
housing to enable local residents to remain 
living within their communities by: 
 
• Contacting and working with rural 
communities who have identified a need for 
affordable housing within their 
Neighbourhood plans. 
• Update our Rural Housing Enabling 
Guide. 
• Continue to explore opportunities to 
develop rural exception sites. 
• Explore opportunities for Community 
Led Housing Projects 

CEC Strategic 
Housing & Spatial 
Planning.  Parish 
Councils. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
2018–20 
 
 
2019 
 
 
2018-21 
 
2019-20 
 
 

3.2 Put in place up-to-date planning policy and 
guidance to support the provision of rural 
housing, including for essential rural workers, 
primarily through the Site Allocations and 
Development Policies Document  

CEC Spatial 
Planning 

2020-21 
 
 
 

 

4. Strong, supportive rural places and communities 

 Indicative performance indicators:  

 Monitor through the Public Health Commissioned services scorecard  

 Annual review of the ‘tartan’ rug which will provide an overview of health 
and wellbeing in all wards including rural. 

 Monitor through uptake of the commissions to support resilience and 
independence eg carers hub, early help framework, emotionally healthy 
child and young people programme and CVS contracts.   

 

 Key actions CEC Primary 
responsibilities 

Timescale 



11 
 

and other 
contributors 

4.1 Support local communities to identify assets 
that are important to them, and promote the 
Register of Assets of Community Value as a 
means of recognising their value and 
potential for sale to community groups 

CEC 
Communities, 
Legal, & Assets; 
Parish Councils; 
VCFS 

2019-21 

4.2 Improve health and wellbeing in the Borough 
by building on the distinctive strengths and 
characteristics of the towns and villages 
within Cheshire East, by encouraging and 
supporting Town Partnerships to help meet 
these outcomes. 

CEC 
Communities 
Team & Public 
Health Team, 
Town 
Partnerships, 
Parish Councils, 
VCFS 

2019-21 

4.3 Develop and support rural neighbourhood 
partnerships, which bring local people 
together to address the needs of the 
community and work collaboratively to 
improve their shared offer. 

CEC 
Communities 
Team,  Parish 
Councils, VCF 
Sector Groups, 
Police, Health, 
CFRS,    

2019-21 

4.4 Create a place that supports health and 
wellbeing for everyone in Cheshire East, e.g. 
by increasing the number of people who use 
outdoor space for exercise/health reasons 

CEC Public 
Health, CCG’s, 
NHS, CEC, Police, 
CFRS, 
Healthwatch, 
VCFS,    

2019-21 

4.5 Improving the mental health and wellbeing of 
people, by assessing the levels of loneliness 
and social isolation in rural areas across the 
borough 

CEC Public 
Health, CCG’s, 
NHS, CEC, Police, 
CFRS, 
Healthwatch, 
VCFS 

2019-21 

4.6 Enable more people to Live Well for Longer 
through collaborative health and wellbeing 
campaigns that involve rural places 

CEC Public 
Health, CCG’s, 
NHS, CEC, Police, 
CFRS, 
Healthwatch, 
VCFS 

2019-21 

4.7 To progress the structured dialogue with rural 
schools to ensure that the opportunities and 
benefits of collaborative working are fully 
promoted and utilised. 

CEC Education 
/Schools 

2019 

4.8 To work collaboratively with the Regional 
Schools Commissioner and Diocese to 
ensure that identified rural schools receive 
appropriate levels of support and challenge 
which leads to improved outcomes for 
learners. 

CEC Education / 
Regional Schools 
Commissioner/ 
Diocese 

2019 

 



12 
 

5. Neighbourhood planning 

 Indicative performance indicators:  

 Number of resident-led Neighbourhood Plans ‘made’ in primarily rural 
parishes 

 Key actions CEC Primary 
responsibilities 
and other 
contributors 

Timescale 

5.1 Continue to support local councils in putting 
in place Neighbourhood Development Plans 
that help shape their areas and enhance 
quality of life in rural communities.  

CEC Spatial 
Planning 

2019-21 

5.2 Support communities to review their adopted 
plans to ensure they continue to align with 
and inform the boroughs wider rural strategy, 
ensuring new opportunities are captured. 

CEC Spatial 
Planning 

2019-21 

 

6. Planning for a green and sustainable place 

 Indicative performance indicators:  

 Green Infrastructure plan in place 

 Detailed planning policies in place to protect and enhance the quality of 
rural environment 

 Environment Strategy in place 

 Key actions CEC Primary 
responsibilities 
and other 
contributors 

Timescale 

6.1 Produce an evidence-based plan that 
identifies and guides the approach to local 
Green Infrastructure (GI) needs and 
opportunities in Cheshire East 

CEC Growth & 
Enterprise, Rural 
& Cultural 
Economy, Spatial 
Planning 
/LNP/NT/NE/other 
partners 

2019 

6.2 Conserve the Countryside Management 
estate and Tatton Park’s natural features 
and biodiversity for present and future 
generations 

CEC Rural & 
Cultural Economy 

2019-21 

6.3 Seek continuous improvement in standards 
of estate management, maintenance, 
husbandry, good environmental practice 
and stewardship of the Council’s farm estate 
whilst providing opportunities to suitably 
qualified persons to enter agriculture 

CEC Growth & 
Enterprise,  
Cheshire Farms 
Shared service 

2019 -22 

6.4 Further, detailed planning policies to be put 
in place to protect and enhance the quality 
of rural environment (landscape, heritage 
and biodiversity) through the Site 
Allocations and Development Policies 
Document  

CEC Spatial 
Planning 

2020-21 



13 
 

6.5 Neighbourhood plans help to identify locally 
distinct habitats and landscapes which 
should be subject to specific protection 
and/or policies that positively manage the 
impact of local land use decisions and, 
where possible, farming practices in 
particular. 

CEC Spatial 
Planning 

2019-21 

6.6 Prepare a Minerals and Waste Local Plan to 
ensure the proper planning and 
management of the Borough’s natural 
resources 

CEC Spatial 
Planning 

2020-21 

6.7 Review and amend supplementary planning 
guidance to ensure that the design and 
appearance of rural areas is maintained. 
This could include further guidance on the 
Best & Most Versatile agricultural land, 
landscape character, green infrastructure 
and biodiversity. 

CEC Spatial 
Planning 

2021-22 

6.8 Prepare an Environment Strategy that will 
provide the Council with a framework to help 
protect and enhance the environment and 
improve residents’ quality of life, related to 
the natural and built environment of the 
borough and addressing transport, energy & 
carbon, waste and minerals. 

CEC Place 
Directorate 

2019 

 

 

7.0 Visitor  & Cultural Economy 

 Indicative performance indicators:  

 Cheshire East visitor economy worth £1bn by 2020 

 Number/value of rural tourism projects funded through LEADER  & 
Rural Growth Fund programme 

 Completion of the ‘Twin trails’ Tourism Growth project 

 Key actions CEC Primary 
responsibilities 
and other 
contributors 

Timescale 

7.1 Visitor Economy Strategy 2016-20 includes 
a focus on developing a distinctive rural 
tourism offer supported by website and 
social media activity 

CEC Rural & 
Cultural 
Economy, 
Marketing 
Cheshire 

2019-20 

7.2 Visitor Economy Forum and Cultural Forum 
support the delivery of visitor economy 
strategy and Cultural framework with  cross-
sector groups 

CEC Rural & 
Cultural 
Economy, 
Marketing 
Cheshire, other 
partners 

2019-20 

7.3 Residents Festival - Cheshire East CEC Rural & 2019-20 



14 
 

attractions engaged with providing free 
tickets as promotional incentives. 

Cultural 
Economy, 
Marketing 
Cheshire 

7.4 Manage Discover England and other 
strategic funding projects relevant to rural 
business such as Gardens & Gourmet, 
Cultural destinations and Brilliant science. 

CEC Rural & 
Cultural 
Economy , 
Marketing 
Cheshire 

2019 

7.5 Manage and monitor rural tourism projects 
funded through LEADER  & Rural Growth 
Fund programme 

CEC Rural & 
Cultural 
Economy 
/CWaC/LEP 

2019-20 

7.6 Delivery of twin trails Tourism Growth 
project (Sandstone and Gritstone trails) 

CEC Rural & 
Cultural 
Economy, CWaC 

2019 

7.7 Continued delivery of Rural Touring 
Network to support cultural priorities as part 
of Cultural framework. 

CEC Rural & 
Cultural 
Economy , 
CWaC 

2019-21 

7.8 Seek further opportunities to support 
economic benefit to rural areas from events 
as part of Strategic Events Framework 

CEC Rural & 
Cultural 
Economy 

2019-21 

7.9 Seek further opportunities to develop and 
support rural tourism and cultural/creative 
businesses including through sector deals 

CEC Rural & 
Cultural 
Economy 

2019-21 

7.10 Liaison and collaborative working with Peak 
district to identify tourism and other 
opportunities of joint interest 

CEC Rural & 
Cultural 
Economy 
/PDNP/Visit Peak 
District 

2019-21 

7.11 Put in place up-to-date planning policy to 
maintain and enhance the visitor economy 
in the rural area through the Site Allocations 
and Development Policies Document 

CEC Spatial 
Planning 

2021-21 

 

8. Rural Based Businesses 

 Indicative performance indicators:  

 Number of rural businesses engaged 

 Number/value of rural tourism projects funded through LEADER  & 
Rural Growth Fund programme 
 

 Key actions CEC Primary 
responsibilities 

and other 
contributors 

Timescale 

8.1 Engagement programme to understand the 
challenges and opportunities of the rural 
business community 

CEC Growth & 
Enterprise, Rural 
& Cultural 
Economy  

2018-21 



15 
 

8.2 Deliver programmes to provide points of 
contact for rural businesses to maximise 
government support and finance available. 

CEC Growth & 
Enterprise, Rural 
& Cultural 
Economy/LEP 

2018-21 

8.3 Manage and monitor rural business 
projects funded through LEADER  & Rural 
Growth Fund programme 

CEC Growth & 
Enterprise, Rural 
& Cultural 
Economy 
/CWaC/LEP 

2019-20 

8.4 Collate and interpret evidence and 
intelligence on market failure and growth 
opportunities to inform strategy 
development  

CEC Growth & 
Enterprise, Rural 
& Cultural 
Economy  

2018-21 

8.5 Identify existing and future skills needs of 
rural businesses and engaging education 
and skills providers to develop provision to 
address these needs 

CEC Growth & 
Enterprise 

2018-21 

8.6 Raising the profile of the economy in 
Cheshire East’s rural areas and related 
career opportunities for residents and 
young people 

CEC Growth & 
Enterprise  

2018–21 

8.7 Positive planning policy framework to 
support a prosperous rural economy 
including sustainable rural tourism to be 
reinforced through the Site Allocations and 
Development Policies Document 

CEC Spatial 
Planning 

2020-21 



16 
 

Appendix 1 ‘Where Rural communities matter’: update on actions since 2015 

What we pledged  What we have done so far… (2016 update) Review/Update  (December 2018) 

A strong and resilient rural economy  

Pro-actively seek funding 
sources 

Successful bid for LEADER funding. Officers sit on and 
actively contribute to EU LEADER funding meetings, 
European Structural and Investment Fund Sub-Group and 
other rural funding opportunities via the LEP Rural Strategy 
Board. Support for ‘discover England’ funding bids to 
support the rural tourism offer. Cohesion of  EAFRD 
programme across C&W 

Successful bid for a LEADER funding programme 
(2015-2020). Officers sit on and actively contribute to 
EU LEADER funding meetings, European Structural 
and Investment Fund Sub-Group and other rural 
funding opportunities via the LEP Rural Strategy Board 
including EAFRD programme across C&W. Support for 
‘Discover England’ funding bids to support the rural 
tourism offer.  

Promote our visitor 
economy 

Visitor Economy Strategy refreshed for 2016-20 including a 
focus on developing a distinctive rural tourism offer. 
Rural Strategy briefing paper produced 
Organised and promoted rural businesses and economy 
with key groups such as NFU 

Visitor Economy Strategy refreshed for 2016-20 
including a focus on developing a distinctive rural 
tourism offer. Rural Action Plan being developed taking 
account of the Visitor economy Strategy. 
Promoted rural businesses opportunities and visitor 
economy, including Funding opportunities such as 
LEADER. 

Encourage new jobs and 
businesses 

Rural Enterprise Manager appointed in 2015 who works 
with rural enterprises providing direct business support in 
accessing and securing sector specific grant funding, 
accessing wider business support products and referrals to 
specialist services. Developing and maintaining 
relationships with key rural advocates and stakeholders. 
 
Rural Enterprise engagement programme underway with 
59 rural businesses supported 

Cheshire East Council successfully delivers a Rural 
Business Support Programme with its arms-length 
‘Skills and Growth’ company. The programme provides 
direct business support in accessing and securing 
sector specific grant funding, accessing wider business 
support products and referrals to specialist services 
including key Council services.  
 
Developing and maintaining relationships with key rural 
advocates and stakeholders 

Support rural micro and 
small businesses 

Providing opportunities through LEADER funding and 
business engagement. 

The Rural Business Support programme provides 
practical support, developing a tailored package of 
support from first enquiry through to final investment 



17 
 

decision and delivery. It offers a single point of contact 
to access Local Authority Services such as planning 
and regulatory services, creating and developing a 
business growth plan, connecting rural businesses into 
established networks and professional organisations 
and providing advice and guidance on rural grant 
funding opportunities and financial incentives across 
the region.  
A number of case studies have been developed to 
demonstrate the diversity of businesses in rural areas 
in addition to the land-based sector and to highlight the 
success of those businesses and the support received. 
 
Deliver events highlighting specialised businesses 
support products aimed at rural businesses. 

Ensure that rural 
economies are 
embedded in plans for 
economic development. 

Work streams include broadband connectivity, Food 
enterprise, visitor economy development, support for major 
employers in rural locations, development of strategies to 
support the creative & digital sector 
Rural proofing policy added to cabinet papers 

At a local level related work streams include 
broadband connectivity, Food enterprise, visitor 
economy development, and support for major 
employers in rural locations, and development of 
strategies to support the creative & digital sector. 
 
Rural proofing policy is added to cabinet papers.  
 

The Skills and Growth Company facilitated a meeting 
with Cheshire East’s key rural stakeholders which 
included representatives from the National Farmers 
Union, Country Land Association, National Trust, 
Reaseheath College and representatives form some of 
our prominent rural business community, Helers 
Cheese and Mornflake. The meeting focused on the 
needs and opportunities relating to Cheshire East, in 
the wider context of securing the best deal for UK 



18 
 

agriculture and the economy in the rural areas. A letter 
signed by all attendees was sent to the Secretary of 
State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs.  
 
CEC working group set up in 2018 to work on Cheshire 
East Rural Action Plan 
 
At a sub-regional level CEC continues to feed in to 
development of the C&W Local Industrial Strategy and 
Quality of Place Strategy. 
 
At a national level the Council has been proactive in 
responding to call for evidence for the LGA’s Post-
Brexit England Commission and the Governments 
consultation Health and Harmony: the future for food, 
farming and the environment in a Green Brexit. This 
was informed by a meeting with Cheshire East’s key 
rural stakeholders in the wider context of securing the 
best deal for UK agriculture and the economy in the 
rural areas. A letter signed by all attendees was sent to 
the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural 
Affairs. 

Support agricultural-
sector productivity 

Ensured that we have representation on regional strategic 
groups  
Developed strong working relationships with specialist land 
based college – Reaseheath – specifically looking at Agri-
tech and innovation of farming practices 

Developed strong working relationships with specialist 
land based college – Reaseheath – looking at Agri-
tech, innovation of farming practices and Local 
Industrial Strategy (eg The Council’s Skills and Growth 
Company has a partnership event in the pipeline with 
Reaseheath College ensuring that businesses in rural 
locations are represented as a sector within the 
emerging Local industrial strategy).   

Encourage growth and 
innovation of businesses 

Ensure these sectors are highlighted within the LEADER 
Local Development Strategy 2015-2020 

These sectors were highlighted within the LEADER 
Local Development Strategy 2015-2020The LEADER 



19 
 

in dairy production, food 
enterprise, green 
infrastructure, equine and 
tourism 

Programme is currently oversubscribed with a number 
of farm productivity and tourism projects already 
approved and delivered. 
 

Develop pathfinder 
projects through support 
for a food and farming 
local development order 
and food enterprise zone 
(FEZ) 

Worked closely with Reaseheath College to develop and 
launch FEZ 
Supported the development of Rural hub concept called 
Cheshire Fresh 

Worked closely with Reaseheath College to develop 
and launch FEZ through a Local Development Order 

Increased broadband and mobile phone connectivity  

Seek additional funding 
to expand ‘fibre to 
the premise’ technology 

Current position across Cheshire East (Aug 2016) is that 
28% of premises can receive ultrafast broadband – above 
100Mbps, and 91% of premises receive superfast 
broadband – above 24Mbps. Additional fibre to the premise 
roll-out is being provided including rural areas, and 
Connecting Cheshire are actively driving adoption of the 
technology where available. A further funding bid has been 
submitted to provide additional broadband investment via a 
Digital 2020 programme and approval is expected during 
autumn 2016, this will also include additional business 
support elements. 

Current position, Cheshire East (Oct 2018) 31.7% of 
premises can receive ultrafast broadband – above 
100Mbps, and 94.3% of premises receive superfast 
broadband – above 30Mbps.  
The Connecting Cheshire Partnership is actively 
seeking new funding streams to expand ‘fibre to the 
premise’ technology.  . 

Expand public Wi-Fi 
opportunities, such as in 
libraries and community 
hubs 

Wi-Fi in libraries being rolled out and new digital platform 
being developed.  ‘Wi-Bee’ to enable IT classes has been 
implemented.  
 

All of our libraries now provide free unlimited wi-fi 
access to library members. In addition, Digital literacy 
and Informal Learning remain a priority for the service. 
• We have installed free Wi-Fi in all our libraries 
enabling residents to use their own devices to access 
the internet and download resources.  
• We have extended our range of e-resources to 
include e-books, e-zines and have subscribed to a 
greater range of online information sources.  
• With the help of our volunteer ICT Buddies we 



20 
 

offer Get Online and IT Basic sessions at all sites.  
• We continue to inspire children through our 
Coding Clubs and our involvement in the SHIFT 
programme funded by Arts Council England, run jointly 
by Cultural Economy and Libraries teams to deliver a 
wide range of digital creativity events.  
• We also run Work Clubs on a weekly basis in a 
number of our libraries, providing access to online 
resources and 1:1 support to those looking for work. 
 

Delivery Fibre through 
the planning system 

 Engagement with developers and house builders to 
encourage them to include provision for ICT 
infrastructure in new developments.   
 
To encourage private developers to include provision 
in new developments Cheshire East Council has 
included a condition in the Cheshire East Local Plan 
Strategy.  The condition requires developers to ‘work 
with appropriate providers to deliver the necessary 
physical infrastructure to accommodate information 
and digital communications (ICT) networks as an 
integral part of all appropriate new developments.’   
 
Government has announced an intention to make it a 
requirement for developers to include the necessary 
enabling infrastructure in all new build housing units in 
the future. 

Support small and 
medium-sized 
businesses 
to exploit the benefits of 
faster broadband 

 A successful Superfast Business Programme was run 
during 2013 – 5 which supported over 900 SMEs across 
Cheshire. Two additional Women in Broadband 
programmes were also run to support female 
entrepreneurs, and a third round of support is expected to 

On behalf of the Connecting Cheshire Partnership the 
Council’s Skills and Growth Company is delivering 
Digital 2020: Digital Support Programme.  The Digital 
2020 Programme is part funded by the European 
Regional Development Fund under Priority Axis 2: 



21 
 

and digital technology be bid for in late 2016. Enhancing Access to, and Use and Quality of, 
Information and Communications Technology. 
 
The Digital 2020: Digital Support Programme is 
designed to help businesses maximise digital 
technology.  The programme is demand led and 
targets those enterprises which have the greatest 
capability to reap productivity benefits.  This support 
will be delivered through an initial diagnostic and a 
series of intensive, bespoke, demand led master 
classes and one to one coaching.  
 
It is envisaged that the programme will support approx. 
120 businesses in the region by Spring 2020.  In 
addition, the Skills and Growth Company refers 
businesses to relevant seminars on Industry 4.0 and 
digital marketing delivered by other providers.   

Work with mobile phone 
operators to lobby 
for increased 4G 
coverage in rural areas 

 Although outside the scope of the Connecting Cheshire 
programme, engagement with mobile providers has been 
undertaken to help drive greater coverage.  Government 
has committed to ensuring 98% of homes/businesses have 
access to 4G services outside by 2018 

Mobile coverage has significantly improved over recent 
years, with 87% of UK landmass having a 4G signal 
from at least one operator (compared to 78% in 2017).  
However, coverage in rural areas remains a challenge.  
The Council’s Skills and Growth Company has had 
regular dialogue with large corporate telecom providers 
such as Virgin Media, Vodafone and BT/Openreach 
regarding their plans for further roll-out of fibre and 4G 
across rural areas and ongoing challenges of 
commercial viability of rural connectivity and 
challenging digital exclusion.   
 
In addition, there has been regular dialogue with 
smaller providers such as Vispa, ITS, Internet Central 
offering wireless broadband services.  As appropriate 



22 
 

the team have helped providers engage with 
communities and implement community schemes.  The 
Council’s Skills and Growth Company promote 
government voucher schemes such as the Gigiabit and 
Better Broadband Schemes for those premises 
receiving the lowest speeds or outside current roll-out.   

Work with the 
Government to 
accelerate deployment of 
5G and next generation 
coverage in rural areas  

 The Connecting Cheshire Partnership lobby policy 
makers within Department for Digital, Culture, Media 
and Sport to ensure continued support for rural 
connectivity funding and emerging technology such as 
5G utilising existing relationships with local MP’s.   
 
This includes support for full-fibre networks and public 
Wi-Fi where appropriate, and ‘narrowband’ to support 
the rollout of the Internet of Things (IoT) and smart 
technologies in rural areas. 

Address digital exclusion Developed ‘Digital Champions’ scheme and implemented I-
Tea and Chat schemes in a range of community settings 
via a pilot Digital Inclusion Co-ordinator role with shared 
funding from Connecting Cheshire, CEC’s Digital Strategy 
Team and Adult Social Care.  
Digital inclusion strategy being developed 

The Council’s Skills and Growth Company engages 
with local colleges and apprenticeship providers to 
highlight the importance of the digital inclusion agenda.  
 
The Council’s Skills and Growth Company is working 
with the LEP to develop an expression of interest for 
DCMS funding for a Local Digital Skills Partnership for 
the sub region. 
 
 Through the employer led digital and creative group 
WEAVE, CEC has created an evidence base of the 
digital skills challenges facing both local businesses 
and residents, which has supported the LEPs activities.   

Focused planning for a green and sustainable place  

Put our residents first 
and secure sustainable 

4 neighbourhood Plans have now been ‘made’ including 3 
in rural parishes. Plans in other rural parishes such as 

18 neighbourhood plans have now been ‘made’ 
including 8 in rural Parishes. Plans in other rural 



23 
 

development: delivering 
what we need and 
want, rather than what 
developers want 

Marton are now nearing completion. This helps ensure 
decisions match local aspirations. 

parishes such as Calveley, Acton, Eaton and Moston 
are now nearing completion. This helps ensure 
decisions match local aspirations. 

Make planning in 
Cheshire East an 
exemplar, 
ensuring that decisions 
are sustainable 

 Local Plan Strategy adopted in June 2017 and work 
has advanced significantly on the Site Allocations and 
Development Policies Document with a first draft 
published for consultation across September and 
October 2018. Examination on the Community 
Infrastructure Levy is now complete with adoption of 
this charging schedule anticipated in the first quarter of 
2019. Housing Monitoring Update soon to be published 
which confirms the authority's strong position on 
housing land and good progress being made on 
Minerals and Waste DPD, Crewe Area Action plan and 
a series of Supplementary Planning Documents all of 
which contribute to establishing a joined up planning 
framework through which sustainable planning 
decisions can be made 

Set up a design panel of 
architects, designers 
and residents to review 
the design aspect of 
new developments 

 Not instigated – however such a panel was formed to 
feed into the development of the Cheshire East Design 
Guide which underpins decision making on design 
issues. 

Implement a food and 
farming local 
development order for 
food enterprise 

Food Enterprise Zone plans launched at Reaseheath 
College 

Food Enterprise Zone project completed 2017, 
launched at Reaseheath College with Local 
development Order  

Improve the pre-
application advice we 
give to 
prospective developers 

 The updated and refreshed planning framework being 
introduced via the Local Plan and it’s associated 
documents improves our ability to give clearer pre-
application advice 



24 
 

Set out tougher 
requirements that 
applicants 
have to meet when they 
submit a planning 
application 

Progress with the Cheshire East Local Plan and 
Neighbourhood Plans ensures that planning applications 
need to address a wider range of policy considerations. 

Progress with the Cheshire East Local Plan, its 
associated part two document (the SADPD), the 
Cheshire East Design Guide and Neighbourhood Plans 
ensures that planning applications need to address a 
wider range of detailed policy considerations. 
Neighbourhood plans in particular have allowed 
communities to take up the opportunity of setting out 
their own priorities to be considered when determining 
planning applications 

Develop environmental 
guidance to ensure a 
more robust analysis of 
issues such as 
design, landscape 
biodiversity, heritage, etc 

In July the Council completed a study into Best & Most 
Versatile Agricultural land. This provides detailed analysis 
of the threats / opportunities facing soil fertility and food 
production. 
Landscape partnership project developed with National 
Trust to develop evidence base to inform future 
management and policy in northern part of the borough 
linked to ‘quality of place’. 

Cheshire East Design Guide adopted May 2017 to 
drive up the design quality of new residential 
development schemes. 
  
Landscape Character Assessment completed in 2018.  
 
Review of Local Landscape Designations completed in 
2018. 
 
Ecological Network Mapping carried out across the 
whole Borough in 2017 in line with national planning 
policy.   
 
A Green Infrastructure Assessment undertaken as a 
baseline for developing a Green Infrastructure Plan. 

Strong, supportive rural places and communities – helping people live better for 
longer 

Review/update 

Develop rural community 
hubs and provide local 
services within local 
communities 

Ongoing development of rural community networks in 
places such as Wrenbury, Worleston and Poynton that 
utilise local assets such as people and skills, and enable 
groups to provide vital social, educational and recreational 
activities in local venues.     

Connected Communities Centres have now been 
established in Audlem, Congleton, Poynton and 
Knutsford, with more to be launched in other rural 
towns within the next few months.   The centres aim to 
deliver services tailored for their community, such as 
coffee mornings, computer classes and line dancing, or 



25 
 

sharing a problem and support for stroke sufferers. 
Every centre has a computer tablet connected to our 
Live Well community information website so residents 
can easily find information, advice, activities and 
services in the area. 

Develop collaborative 
working with town and 
parish councils 

Held regular Town and Parish Council Conferences, have 
regular engagement with ChALC, helped support the 
development of Town Partnerships to enhance work of 
town councils, attend parish council meetings to share 
information and build relationships with ward and local 
councillors 

Work closely with ChALC to support CEC engagement 
with Town and Parish Councils, and with ChALC co-
ordinate joint T&PC Conferences twice a year. 
 
Provide grant support to Town and Community 
Partnerships which are independent groups, 
established and led by the local community. They vary 
to meet local needs, but their overall purpose is to 
improve the social, economic and environmental 
wellbeing of their area. Town and Community 
Partnerships are active in: Wilmslow, Poynton, 
Middlewich, Sandbach, Congleton, Holmes Chapel, 
Alsager, and Nantwich. 
 
Regular meetings held with individual town and parish 
councils in 2017 and 2018 to inform the preparation of 
the First Draft Site Allocations and Development 
Policies Document 

Transfer assets locally, 
where it makes sense 

Over 40 assets have been transferred to date and a 
process being developed to help facilitate a more 
streamlined approach 

53 assets have been transferred to date and CEC 
approved an Asset Transfer Framework in July 2016 to 
provide a consistent and transparent process for all 
asset transfer applications received.  The process 
includes a ‘Scoring Matrix’ to prioritise each 
‘Expression of Interest’. 

Support resident-led 
Neighbourhood Plans 

Dedicated Planning Officer leading on supporting 
interested parishes  

Dedicated neighbourhood planning team in place to 
support communities to prepare plans. Of the 18 plans 
made so far, 11 are in primarily Rural parishes. 



26 
 

Help retain local facilities 
like pubs, post offices, 
village halls and access 
to cultural activity 

Actively work with communities to support them, have a 
clear Community Right to Bid process to enable 
communities to nominate assets important to them, vibrant 
Rural Touring Arts programme  

Community Development Officers actively work with 
rural groups and communities to support their 
development. 
 
A clear Community Right to Bid process enables 
communities to nominate assets, such as pubs, that 
are important to them. To date 19 assets have been 
listed including public houses, allotment sites, a 
country park and a chapel. 
 
The number of rural promoter venues on the Rural 
Touring Scheme in Cheshire East has been 
maintained delivering a vibrant Rural Touring Arts 
programme.  

Help to create a sense of 
community 

Local Engagement Officer support provided to help 
communities to bring about social change and improve the 
quality of life in their local area through empowerment and 
active participation.  Cheshire Community Action is funded 
to provide Community Agents and support specific 
engagement work with our more isolated rural 
communities. 

Community Development Officers have established 17 
Neighbourhood Partnerships across Cheshire East, 
mainly in areas of deprivation. Partnerships are made 
up of a range of organisations relevant to the area and 
generally will include (but are not limited to) Police, 
children’s centre, schools, faith sector, local community 
groups, Youth Service, local area co-ordinators, Youth 
Offending Team, local councillors, health 
organisations, residents, businesses.  Out of these 
there are partnerships established that cover more 
rural areas such as Alsager and Radway,  Bollin, 
Congleton and Bromley Farm, Dane Valley, Poynton 
Area   

Keep Cheshire East a 
safe place to live 

Safer Cheshire East Partnership meetings.  Community 
Wardens able to address issues of littering, fly tipping and 
dog nuisance 

Safer Cheshire East Partnership (SCEP) brings 
partners together to provide strategic leadership to 
reduce crime, protect our communities from crime and 
help people to feel safer. SCEP takes a ‘Resident First’ 
approach, working with communities to identify and 



27 
 

address local issues.  
 
The Community Warden Service addresses public 
concerns in relation to Crime and Disorder and tackles 
issues in relation to Anti-Social Behaviour such as 
littering, fly tipping and dog nuisance. This is achieved 
by working in partnership with the local community and 
other agencies to provide a safer environment in which 
to live work and visit. 

Encourage respect for 
rural communities 

 A Portfolio Holder with a specific responsibility for 
“Rural Affairs”. Ongoing development of the Rural 
Action Plan  

Keep our green spaces 
and open countryside 
well maintained, 
conserved and 
accessible 

Countryside Ranger services, Rights of Way and Tatton 
Park deliver services to keep our green spaces and open 
countryside well maintained, conserved and accessible. 
Rights of way improvement plan adopted. 
Supporting LEP study into ‘Quality of place’. 

Green Space Strategy updated in 2018. 
 
Open Space Survey update completed in 2018. 

Help people to find ways 
to do things that will 
improve their wellbeing 

Everybody Sport and Leisure and Public Health Team 
delivering a range of activities.  Review of Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy in 2016. ‘Healthy walks’ projects for 
areas around Crewe, Congleton and Knutsford.  
Participatory Budgeting initiative in Autumn 2016 – enables 
community groups to bid for funding for innovative local 
projects that will address health inequalities, with local 
communities deciding themselves which should receive a 
grant  

Public Health Team, Communities team  and 
Everybody Sport and Recreation delivering a range of 
initiatives and activities such as Self Care, Know Your 
Numbers and One You Cheshire East. 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-21 identifies 
an outcome for creating a place that supports health 
and wellbeing in Cheshire. There is significant demand 
on services, high costs to the system and local 
demographic pressures which continue to put pressure 
on the Cheshire East health and care system.  There is 
a new vision for place-based health and people must 
be empowered to take greater control over their own 
lives, to influence personalised services and to take 
greater responsibility for their health outcomes. Every 



28 
 

community in Cheshire East is different and local 
solutions will reflect the local challenges. 

The Participatory Budgeting initiative in 2016/17 
resulted in over 70 local projects from across the 
borough receiving funding for activities to help address 
health inequalities. 

Promote the 
achievements of our rural 
communities 

PACE e- newsletter, circulated to over 2000 email 
addresses every 2 months, shares stories and promotes 
activities and events.  

Connected Communities e-newsletter, circulated to 
approximately 1,300 email addresses every 2 months, 
shares stories and promotes activities and events. 

Good access for residents, businesses and visitors  

Make sure public 
transport routes needed 
by our rural communities 
are supported 

Local Transport Plan – Strategy 2011-2026 
 
 
 

In addition to the Council undertaking a supported bus 
review in 2017, which retained public transport 
coverage to approximately 98% of Cheshire East   
households including a number of rural communities, a 
review of Little Bus is currently being undertaken.  The 
review seeks to ensure that Little Bus works efficiently 
for the whole borough, including rural areas. 
 
The Council is currently updating its LTP which is due 
to be adopted in 2019.  The borough-wide strategy 
covers rural areas, and includes a ‘Rural Area Profile’ 
detailing the challenges that rural areas face. 
 
The Council is also planning on developing a series of 
Town Plans for the principal towns and key service 
centres within Cheshire East. These will look at the 
surrounding areas including rural areas so that every 
location across the borough is covered.    

Encourage community 
transport schemes 

Grant funding provided to enable schemes to be developed 
e.g. Poynton Community Bus and Cheshire Community 
Action  

The Council has supported community transport.  In 
2016, 6 vehicles were gifted to community transport 
schemes across the borough.  The Council will 



29 
 

 continue to seek opportunities for further funding to 
support community transport schemes.  .    

Work with rural 
community groups and 
parish 
councils to identify 
danger hotspots on 
country 
roads 

Route Management Reviews on key A roads carried out.   
 
Work with key stakeholders, including Cheshire 
Constabulary and Cheshire Fire & Rescue Service 
(CFRS), to address road safety across the borough. These 
include the Cheshire East Road Safety officers meeting 
and Exec Board.  Cheshire Road Safety Group, Safer 
Cheshire East Partnership etc.,  
 
The Council delivers is Road Safety Education through 
CFRS.  As part of this, CFRS go into the Borough’s 
primary and secondary schools annually to deliver road 
safety education to Key Stage 2 and 4 pupils.  
 
The Highway Service has been working with Network Rail 
(NR) to improve or install vehicle restraint measures where 
NR has identified a high risk of vehicles leaving the 
carriageway and landing on railway lines.  This programme 
has been running for several years and will be completed 
in 2019.   

Delivery of annual road safety works LTP programme 
focused on addressing worst cluster sites for road 
traffic injury collision sites. 
 
CEC Highways run annual programme of bi-annual 
local Area Highway Group meetings. These raise issue 
of local concern and help to develop and determine the 
annual LTP programme of local Area Highway Group 
schemes.  
 
The annual programmes are approved and published 
via the Council’s website. The Highway Service attend 
meetings, on request, to discuss specific issues that 
are of concern to Parish & Town Councils. 
 
A new 4 year Road Safety Education agreement with 
Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service is being 
implemented by the Highway Service in 2019.  
 
The Council Highway Service has been successful with 
all three of its bids to the Department for Transport 
(DfT) for Safer Roads funding.  The two that serve rural 
communities are the A536 Congleton to Macclesfield 
and the A537 Buxton Road, Macclesfield to County 
boundary.  The DfT has allocated funding for these 
commencing 2020-21.   
 
The Council completed a vehicle restraint barrier 
scheme on the A54 between Bosley and the A537 
Buxton Road in November 2018.  Installing a 300m 



30 
 

long reinforced concreted deck slab, cantilevering over 
the down slope and providing support for the vehicle 
restraint system within the Peak District National Park.  

Continue to deliver 
improvements on the 
public 
rights of way network 

Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2011-2026 The ROWIP 
for Cheshire East has been developed through 
consultation with members of the public, user groups and 
parish and town councils. The document covers the period 
2011-2026. This strategy is integrated into the Local 
Transport Plan in recognition of walking and cycling as 
means of travel.  Cheshire East Local Access Forum works 
to balance the desire for greater public access to the 
countryside with the needs of landowners and land 
managers and to ensure the natural environment is not 
damaged as a result. It also gives advice to planners of 
major housing and transport developments about 
protecting existing public rights of way and incorporating 
the needs of walkers, cyclists, horse riders etc 

The Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2011-26 is being 
delivered through 4 yearly implementation plans.  The 
current plan expires in 2019. Delivery of a plan after 
2019 will be in line with the Local Transport Plan and 
related strategies (such as Green Infrastructure, 
Cycling Strategy and Local Plan).  
 
The Local Access Forum has evolved in to The 
Cheshire East Countryside Access Forum which 
continues to work to balance the desire for greater 
public access to the countryside with the needs of 
landowners and land managers and to ensure the 
natural environment is not damaged as a result.  

With partners, continue 
to seek investment in 
rural active travel routes, 
such as canal 
towpaths, through 
development 
opportunities 

Local Transport Plan, Cycling Strategy  
 
 
 

Local Transport Plan, Cycling Strategy; development of 
Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans 
(LCWIPs) for Congleton, Macclesfield and Wilmslow 
with technical support from DfT; Local Growth funding 
via the LEP for Connect 2 northern extension in Crewe 
and cycling packages in Wilmslow 

Work with communities 
to bring speed limits 
down around schools to 
30mph 

Substantial investment in 20 mph scheme for all schools 
across Cheshire East – Phase 1 to complete in March 
2016  
 
 
 
 
 

Substantial investment in 20 mph scheme for all CEC 
schools across the Borough – Phase 1 was completed 
in March 2016. This phase included Stapley Broad 
Lane Primary School located on Broad Lane, within a 
rural area of Nantwich and three Middlewich schools, 
Park Road Primary, St Mary’s Catholic Primary and 
Middlewich High School.  
 

http://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/public_transport/local_transport_plan.aspx
http://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/public_transport/local_transport_plan.aspx


31 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Phase 2 was completed in March 2017 and included 
Cledford Primary school located on Long Lane South, 
in a residential area of Middlewich and Bridgemere 
Primary school located on Hunsterston Road in a rural 
area of Nantwich. 
 
Finally, Phase 3 was completed in March 2018. 
Schools in this phase included Tytherington High 
School located on Manchester Road, in an urban 
suburb of Macclesfield and Pebble Brook Primary 
School located on Balmoral Avenue, in a densely 
residential area of Crewe. 
 
Sustainable Modes of Travel to Schools (SMOTS) 
strategy developed and adopted July 2018. SMOTS 
includes a Safer Routes to School programme, to 
provide capital funding to implement measures 
identified by School Travel Plans. 
 
A monitoring exercise is currently under way covering 
these schools. 

Introduce more ‘20 is 
Plenty’ areas 

See above   The introduction of the Councils Speed Management 
Strategy in September 2016 provides a robust 
framework for speed limit evaluation and 
implementation. The Strategy proves specific guidance 
on 20mph areas to ensure there is a consistent and 
transparent approach to the application of this lower 
speed limit. 

Effectively-targeted funding  

Aim for 97% of our 
schools to be rated 
‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ 

1. As of December 2016, the overall position for Ofsted 
Inspections for Cheshire east Schools showed that 25.2% 
were outstanding and 65.8% were judged good – creating 

1. As of December 2018, the overall position for Ofsted 
Inspections for Cheshire east Schools showed that 
25.2% were outstanding and 63.2% were judged good 



32 
 

this year – up from 
93.6% in 2014. 

an overall position of 91% of schools in the top two 
gradings 
2. The challenge of striving for an improved percentage 
over considerable lengths of time (2014-16) is that there 
are regular changes to the Ofsted framework which results 
in an increased focus on schools where there is increased 
vulnerability especially in terms of data. This means that 
the likelihood of some schools dropping into requires 
improvement from good is increased.  
3. Over this time period, significant changes have taken 
place to national attainment and progress measures which 
show that the ability to compare trends over time is 
statistically invalid. Therefore, Ofsted Inspections will be 
looking at different performance data between 2014 and 
2016 which will impact on overall gradings. 
4. Therefore, the position at this point is that the local 
authority continues to perform strongly in terms of Ofsted 
outcomes and works with all schools to ensure they are 
fully prepared for an inspection.  
5. During this time period ( 2014 – 16) the Local Authority 
has been proactive in providing CPD sessions to brief 
schools on Ofsted Inspection frameworks as well as 
targeting schools through a ‘Getting to Good’ programme. 
This involves direct liaison with Ofsted HMI Inspections in 
supporting schools to be fully prepared for an inspection. 
 

– creating an overall position of 88.4% of schools in the 
top two gradings. 
2. Again, this slight change in the percentages reflects 
the national drive to target inspections in schools which 
are at or below the floor standards or which are 
referred to as ‘coasting’ schools. This trend is 
happening nationally and therefore this slight reduction 
in the overall position is not specific to Cheshire East.  
3. A further and significant factor which needs to be 
carefully considered here is that as of Dec. 2018, 50% 
of our schools are now academies. This makes the role 
of school improvement and the ability to closely 
monitor performance more challenging as the 
accountability for outcomes is shared between the 
Local Authority and the Regional Schools 
Commissioner (RSC). The LA has strong liaison with 
the RSC to provide both support and challenge to 
academy schools where outcomes are considered 
vulnerable.  
4. The Local Authority has been proactive in 
strengthening its categorisation of schools and 
increasing its use of sector leads who are now seen as 
the key driver for school improvement. Recently 
distributed letters to schools included both strengths 
and alerts to schools where there were areas for 
improvement which were seen to be needed. 
5. The Local Authority has been successful in securing 
considerable national funding to lead a school 
improvement programme targeting 20 CE schools 
where there are increased levels of vulnerability from 
Ofsted Inspection. This programme is progressing well 
and it’s targeted at improving outcomes for 



33 
 

disadvantaged learners and in maths. 
 

Promote shared 
procurement of services 
and federation working 
between our rural 
schools 

1. The increasing move towards academisation and the 
previous national directive that all schools should move to 
become an academy (later rescinded) has minimised the 
option of federation between small and rural 
schools.  Some rural schools have already made the move 
to become an academy and are successfully working in 
multi-academy trusts involving structured governance and 
leadership arrangements. 
2. Certain rural schools are Diocesan schools and the 
requirements for such schools to work within a structured 
Diocesan solution adds additional factors to be considered 
in any change in formal structural solutions. 
3. The Local Authority has been proactive in holding events 
for schools to consider the implications of federation and 
academisation. The position of the Authority is not one to 
promote any structural solutions but to allow proper and 
detailed dialogue within local communities to seek 
solutions which are the best for individual schools. 
4. The Local Authority continues to recognise the 
importance of rural schools in terms of discussions and 
decisions taken regarding school funding arrangements as 
overseen through the schools forum. 

1. The Local Authority has held events in 2018 to 
consider the needs of existing maintained schools and 
how best to support such schools going forward.  
2. Draft discussion documents on rural schools and 
maintained schools have been prepared with briefing 
events planned with school leaders and governors for 
the spring term to progress this agenda. 
3. Where leadership in rural schools has become an 
issue – often due to funding challenges, collaborative 
working has been encouraged to promote an executive 
leadership model across certain groups of schools. 
This has happened in MATs but also where there is a 
need in maintained schools. 
4. Where appropriate, federations are still being 
considered as a sustainable solution. 
5. Consultation is currently taking place through 
schools forum on how best to support all schools 
through national funding parameters. 

Listen and work with our 
rural residents and 
businesses to design and 
deliver services 

 Neighbourhood Partnerships set their local priorities 
and implement activities to address issues.  Early Help 
Framework developed and co-production approach to 
commissioning of services implemented, will take into 
account the needs of service users.   

Ensure the challenges of 
rural service delivery 
are fully specified and 

Contributed to 2015 Defra/DCLG consultation regarding 
the costs of delivering rural services  

Contributed to 2015 Defra/DCLG consultation 
regarding the costs of delivering rural services 



34 
 

scoped out 

Ensure the Council’s 
commissioning plans 
address the differing 
requirements of rural 
populations 

Review of commissioning taking place in 2016 will enable a 
rural focus 

Early Help Framework developed and co-production 
approach to commissioning of services implemented.  
New Homes Bonus implementation in late 2018/early 
2019 enables 7 areas covering Cheshire East to set 
their high level priorities and invite funding applications 
from a range of sources.   

‘Rural proofing’ in decision making  

Ensure we put rural 
interests at the heart of 
decision making. 

A Portfolio Holder with a specific responsibility for “Rural 
Affairs” 
Cheshire East standard report template contains a set 
heading: “Rural Community Implications”.  This requires 
authors to carefully consider the implications of formal 
Cabinet decisions for rural communities.  

A Portfolio Holder with a specific responsibility for 
“Rural Affairs” 
Cheshire East Decision Report template contains a set 
heading: “Rural Community Implications”.  This 
requires authors to carefully consider the implications 
of formal Cabinet decisions for rural communities 

Hold annual ‘rural 
proofing’ workshops – to 
review processes, raise 
awareness and train 
staff 

 Rural Strategy Workshops for Portfolio Holders and 
key strategic officers established by the Portfolio 
Holder with Lead for Rural Affairs.  These workshops 
raise awareness of rural matters and have ensured 
that a consistent approach  was taken to review how 
our existing strategies deliver on the rural agenda,  and 
to identify those gaps that need to be addressed in 
future strategies and plans 

Use our connections to 
engage with key 
independent rural experts 
to critically review 
policy 

Membership of LEP Rural Strategy Board, linked to 
LEADER Local Action Group, regular dialogue with ChALC  

CEC has membership of LEP Rural Strategy Board, is 
linked to the LEADER Local Action Group, and is in 
regular dialogue with ChALC 

Develop an online forum 
for discussion of rural 
issues and ideas 

 No resource available to implement this measure 

Take the lead from the  2018 Rural Action Planning exercise will identify any 



35 
 

Defra independent rural 
proofing implementation 
review – and aim to 
mainstream rural 
evidence in all our 
policies and programmes 

evidence in existing CEC Strategies, Policies and 
Programmes    

Use the evidence from 
‘rural proofing’ to 
continue to lobby central 
Government for a fair 
deal for rural 
communities 

Cheshire East Council is a member of the Rural Services 
Network  

Cheshire East Council is a member of the Rural 
Services Network  

 








	Agenda
	5 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	6 Commission of Families Achieving Change Together (FACT)
	7 Rural Action Plan
	Rural Action Plan - appendix

	9 ASDV Review Update

